
COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 25, 2021 

Page 1 - Council Meeting Minutes, October 25, 2021 

DATE COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL, CITY OF WOODBURN, COUNTY OF 
MARION, STATE OF OREGON, OCTOBER 25, 2021 

CONVENED   The meeting convened at 7:01 p.m. with Mayor Swenson presiding. 

ROLL CALL 
Mayor Swenson Present  
Councilor Carney Present  
Councilor Cornwell Present- via video conferencing 
Councilor Schaub Present- via video conferencing 
Councilor Swanson Present - via video conferencing 7:45 p.m. 
Councilor Puente Present- via video conferencing 
Councilor Cabrales Present- via video conferencing  

Staff Present: City Administrator Derickson, City Attorney Shields, Assistant City Administrator 
Row, Police Chief Pilcher, Community Development Director Kerr, Economic Development 
Director Johnk, Human Resources Director Gregg, Public Works Projects and Engineering 
Director Liljequist, Public Works Operations Director Stultz, Finance Director Turley, Public 
Affairs and Communications Coordinator Moore, City Recorder Pierson 

PRESENTATIONS 
COVID-19 Update – Community Services Director Cuomo provided updated information on 
COVID-19 in Woodburn.  

BUSINESS FROM THE PUBLIC 
Arnold Ponce, 3244 McNaught Street, stated that he was at the Council Meeting two weeks ago 
and spoke to the Council about getting better language into the parking ordinance.  He stated that 
he was told that the City Council decided to table the issue because of the pandemic.  He provided 
a photo of the street parking to the Council. He stated that he hopes the Council will address this 
issue. Mayor Swenson stated that their rational for tabling this until later is due to people working 
from home due to the pandemic. Police Chief Pilcher noted that he did call Mr. Ponce and spoke 
with him about this issue and the reasons for it being tabled.     

Karen Linton, provided a petition signed by over 100 residents of Woodburn Estates to have an 
off leash area for dogs in Senior Estates Park on the Astor side.   

CONSENT AGENDA 
A. Woodburn City Council minutes of October 11, 2021,
B. Woodburn City Council Executive Session minutes of October 11, 2021,
C. Crime Statistics through September 2021.
Carney/Cornwell… adopt the Consent Agenda. The motion passed unanimously.

PUBLIC HEARING 
A Public Hearing to consider input on a FY 2021-2022 Supplemental Budget Request. Mayor 
Swenson declared the hearing open at 7:21 p.m. for the purpose of hearing public input on a FY 
2021-2022 Supplemental Budget Request. City Administrator Derickson and Finance Director 
Turley provided a staff report. Paige Clarkson, Marion County DA, provided testimony in favor 
of the Supplemental Budget request.  Alison Kelly, CEO of Liberty House, provided testimony in 

1



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 25, 2021 

Page 2 - Council Meeting Minutes, October 25, 2021 

favor of the Supplemental Budget request. Gabriella Pena and Rick Gaupo with Aware Food Bank 
provided testimony in favor of the Supplemental Budget request. Curt Jones provided testimony 
in favor of the Supplemental Budget request. Robert Prinslow with Love Santa provided testimony 
in favor of the Supplemental Budget request. No members of the public wished to speak in  
opposition of a FY 2021-2022 Supplemental Budget Request. Mayor Swenson closed the hearing 
at 7:50 p.m.  

   
COUNCIL BILL NO. 3165 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING TRANSFERS OF FY 2021-
2022 APPROPRIATIONS AND APPROVING A SUPPLEMENTAL BUDGET 
Carney introduced Council Bill No. 3165. City Recorder Pierson read the bill by title only since 
there were no objections from the Council. On roll call vote for final passage, the bill passed 
unanimously. Mayor Swenson declared Council Bill No. 3165 duly passed. 
 
AWARD OF CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR THE LEGION PARK 
IMPROVEMENT PROJECT  
Community Services Director Cuomo provided a staff report. Carney/Cabrales… award a 
contract for the Legion Park Improvement Project to Hellas Construction, Inc. in the amount of 
$4,004,694.00. The motion passed unanimously.   
 
WORK SESSION 
Ward Redistricting – Lesley Hegewald with Mid-Willamette Valley Council of Governments 
provided three draft alternatives for Ward Boundary redistricting. Councilors provided comments 
and asked questions.  Lesley stated that she would take the Councilors comments and suggestions 
into account and provide updated ward boundary alternatives.  
 
CALL-UP BRIEFING:  PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVAL OF A CONDITIONAL 
USE PERMIT, DESIGN REVIEW, AND STREET EXCEPTION APPLICATION 
PACKAGE FOR THE LINCOLN ELEMENTARY SCHOOL WEST REAR PARKING 
AREA EXPANSION AT 1041 N. BOONES FERRY ROAD (CU 21-01, DR 21-08, & EXCP 
21-04) 
The Council declined to call this item up.  
 
CALL-UP BRIEFING:  PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVAL OF A DESIGN 
REVIEW, PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT, AND RIPARIAN CORRIDOR & 
WETLANDS OVERLAY DISTRICT PERMIT APPLICATION PACKAGE FOR THE 
WOODBURN SENIOR LIVING APARTMENTS PROJECT AT 2385 SPRAGUE LANE 
(DR 21-05, PUD 21-01, & RCWOD 21-02) 
The Council declined to call this item up.  
 
 
CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
City Administrator Derickson reported the following:  

• Thanked everyone who worked on the ARPA funding allocations.  
• The Oregon City Managers Association elected him to be their President in 

2023. 
• There will only be one meeting in November and December due to the holidays.  

 
MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS 

2



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 25, 2021 

Page 3 - Council Meeting Minutes, October 25, 2021 

Councilor Cabrales thanked everyone for their hard work.  
 
Carney/Cabrales… meeting be adjourned.  The motion passed unanimously.   
The meeting adjourned at 8:25 p.m. 
 
 

 
APPROVED                                                            

                            ERIC SWENSON, MAYOR 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST                                                                               
                 Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
                 City of Woodburn, Oregon 

3



 

K:\xx PDF Agenda Process\2021\November 8, 2021\memo - 2021-10October.doc 

CITY OF WOODBURN 
Community Development Department 
                                       MEMORANDUM 
 
270 Montgomery Street        Woodburn, Oregon 97071          (503) 982-5246  
 
Date:  November 1, 2021 
   
To:   Chris Kerr, Community Development Director 
               
From:  Melissa Gitt, Building Official         
 
Subject: Building Activity for October 2021  
 
 2019 2020 2021 

No. Dollar Amount No. Dollar Amount No. Dollar Amount 
 

Single-Family Residential 1 $256,306 0 $0 9 $2,422,594 
Multi-Family Residential 0 $0 0 $0 9 $14,377,134 
Assisted Living Facilities 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 
Residential Adds & Alts 5 $126,365 4 $31,370 0 $0 
Industrial 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 
Commercial 6 $279,495 2 $154,000 6 $533,200 
Signs and Fences 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 
Manufactured Homes 0 $0 1 $127,000 0 $0 

TOTALS 12 $662,166 8 $312,370 21 $7,886,744 
Fiscal Year to Date  
(July 1 – June 30)  $3,557,739  $6,744,416  $25,219,672 

       
       

 
• Totals based off of permit valuation 

    

4



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney __x____ Finance __x___ 

 November 8, 2021 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM: Scott Derickson, City Administrator 
 
SUBJECT: Ward Boundaries 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt the Ordinance. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Each city that elects city councilors on the basis of ward representation is 
required to examine and, if necessary, modify ward boundaries within the same 
year the results of the decennial census are released.  The City has contracted 
with the Mid-Willamette Valley Council of Governments (MWVCOG) to update 
Woodburn’s Ward Boundaries in accordance with State law and guidelines as 
follows: 
 
Each district, as nearly as possible, shall: 

• Be contiguous; 
• Utilize existing geographic or political boundaries 
• Not divide communities of common interest 
• Be connected by transportation links 
• Be of equal population 
• No district shall be drawn for the purpose of favoring any political party, 

incumbent elected official, or other person 
• No district shall be drawn for the purpose of diluting the voting strength of 

any language or ethnic minority group 
• To greatest extent, consider newly drawn legislative and congressional 

boundaries  
 
The agreement with the MWVCOG provided for development of three 
reapportionment alternatives.  
 
 
 

5



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
November 8, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
During a work session with the City Council at its October 25, 2021 meeting the 
MWVCOG presented three draft alternatives to the City Council.  Council 
considered the alternatives and provided comments. Attached, for your 
consideration and approval is an ordinance (and map) that reapportions ward 
boundaries, pursuant to Alternative 1B which was drafted by MWVCOG after 
taking Councils comments during the work session into consideration and the 
2020 census.    
 
This Ordinance contains an emergency clause so that the City Council’s final 
action can immediately be conveyed to the Marion County Elections 
Department.  

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None. 
 
 

6



Page 1 – Council Bill No. 3166 
 Ordinance No. 2593 

    COUNCIL BILL NO. 3166 
 

     ORDINANCE NO. 2593 
 
AN ORDINANCE RELATING TO REAPPORTIONMENT OF WARD BOUNDARIES, 
REPEALING ORDINANCE 2483, AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY 
 
 WHEREAS,  the City Charter apportions the City into six wards, and requires 
alteration of the ward boundaries not less than once every ten years to maintain 
an equal population distribution; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council has undertaken and completed a public 
process to reapportion ward boundaries following the 2020 census; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council considered several alternatives, and selected 
a preferred alternative for reapportionment of ward boundaries which is in 
accordance with the equal population distribution and other criteria selected 
by the City Council; and 
 
 WHEREAS, formal adoption of the ward boundaries, by City Ordinance, is 
required; NOW, THEREFORE, 
 
 THE CITY OF WOODBURN ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  That the City of Woodburn is hereby divided into six wards, 
which shall be designated as Wards I, II, III, IV, V, and VI. 
 
 Section 2. That the boundaries of the six wards created by section 1 
above shall be as indicated on a map known as “Ward Map of 2021”, a copy of 
which is attached hereto and, by this reference, incorporated herein. 
 
 Section 3. That two (2) copies of said ward map are on file in the office 
of the City Recorder, and said map of boundaries indicated thereon are hereby 
adopted until such time as they shall be amended or abolished by ordinance or 
Charter. 
 
 Section 4. That Ordinance 2483 is repealed. 
 
 Section 5. That a copy of this ordinance and the attached Ward Map of 
2021 be sent to the Elections Department of Marion County, Oregon. 
 
          Section 6.     This Ordinance being necessary for the immediate 
preservation of the public peace, health, and safety, because there has not 
been an alteration of Ward Boundaries in the last ten years and one is legally 

7



Page 1 – Council Bill No. 3166 
 Ordinance No. 2593 

required, an emergency is declared to exist and this Ordinance shall take effect 
immediately upon passage by the Council and approval by the Mayor.  
   
 
Approved as to form:      
 City Attorney  Date 
 
 
 Approved:   
  Eric Swenson, Mayor 
 
Passed by the Council   

Submitted to the Mayor   

Approved by the Mayor   

Filed in the Office of the Recorder   

 
ATTEST:   
  Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
  City of Woodburn, Oregon 
 

8



31

5

4

2

6

NEWBERG HW

W HAYES ST

N FRONT ST

YOUNG ST

N 1S
T S

T

AS
TO

R 
WY

N 3R
D ST PA

RK
 AV

PARR RD

N P
AC

IFI
C H

W

HARDCASTLE AV

OGLE ST

AR
NEY

 RD

WI
LL

OW
 AV

E LINCOLN ST

SB
 IN

TE
RSTAT

E 5 F
W

UM
PQ

UA
 R

D

NB I
NTE

RSTAT
E 5 F

W

W LINCOLN ST

MT HOOD AV

GA
TC

H S
T

SA
LL

AL
 R

D

HAZELNUT DR

STARK ST

WO
OD

LA
ND

 AV
TUKWILA DR

N 2N
D ST

E CLEVELAND ST

SM
ITH

 D
R

ST
ACY A

LLI
SON W

Y

BROWN ST

HA
RV

AR
D 

DR

NAT
IONAL

 W
Y

PROGRESS WY

S FRONT ST

RAINIER RD

WILSON ST

GARFIELD ST

BLAINE ST

PR
IN

CE
TO

N 
RD

N 5T
H ST

DAHLIA ST

VANDERBECK LN

S E
VE

RGREE
N RD

JAMES ST

OXFORD ST

EL
M 

ST

N 
BO

ON
ES

 FE
RR

Y R
D

TOMLIN AV

COMMERCE WY

ME
RI

DI
AN

 D
R

S S
ET

TL
EM

IER
 AV

HARRISON ST

BEN BROWN LN

IR
IS

 S
T

CO
LU

MB
IA 

DR N 
SE

TT
LE

MI
ER

 AV

DA
YL

ILY
 S

T
OAK ST

COOLE
Y R

D

WO
RK

MA
N 

DR

QU
IN

N 
RD

BA
YL

OR
 D

R

TULIP AV

HA
WLE

Y S
T

LAUREL AV

SILVERTON AV

MYRTLE ST

HA
LL

 S
T

GRANT ST

KING WY

PANA ST

MCKINLEY ST

ALEXANDRA AV JU
NE

 W
Y

BR
YA

N 
ST

N 6T
H ST

AZTEC DR
RO

AN
OK

E 
ST

N 4T
H ST

REED AV

S WOODLAND AV

TROON AV

RO
Y A

V

BEN BROWN DR

N 
CA

SC
AD

E 
DR

JANSEN WY

OR
EG

ON
 W

Y

MC
LA

UG
HL

IN
 D

R

LINDA ST

EAGLE DR

S C
AS

CA
DE

 D
R

DOUD ST

LE
AS

UR
E 

ST

HOOPER ST

EL
AN

A D
R

CO
RB

Y S
T

IRONWOOD TR

LINFIELD AV

CAMAS ST

CA
RO

L S
T

JORY ST

JOHNSON ST

TH
OM

PS
ON

 R
D

BRADLEY ST GEORGE ST
OATS ST

MI
LL

ER
 FA

RM
 R

D

PA
LM

 AV

S B
OO

NE
S F

ER
RY

 RD

RA
ND

OL
PH

 R
D

JUDY ST

MAR
SH

AL
L S

T

A S
T

WA
LT

ON
 W

Y

STEVEN ST

EL
AN

A W
Y

MAYANNA DR

SANTIAM DR

CONSTITUTION AV

EV
ER

GR
EE

N 
RD

DELLMOOR WY

SU
NF

LO
W

ER
 S

T

COUNTRY CLUB RD

ARNEY LN NE
OL

IVE
 AV

COUNTR
Y LN

DEER RUN LN

SB
 NE

WBE
RG

 HW
 RP

NEKIA ST

BARLEY ST

TE
N 

OA
KS

 LN

LIL
AC

 W
Y

W 
CL

AC
KA

MA
S C

R

MCCALLUM LN

ARLINGTON AV

E C
LA

CK
AM

AS
 C

R

BROADWAY ST

BLY LP

KOTKA ST

WHEAT ST

OR
CH

AR
D 

LN

W CLEVELAND ST

ALSEA LP

LA
W

SO
N 

AV

SY
CA

MO
RE

 AV

JA
NA

 AVWARREN WY

A CT

FAIRWOOD CS

TO
OZE ST

AU
TU

MN
 BV

ROBIN AV

IDAHO DR

LUBA ST

BO
EA

N 
LN

BERNARD DR

MONTGOMERY ST

DU
NN

 C
T

SWEETWATER AV

AC
AC

IA 
AV

COMSTOCK AV

STANFORD ST

BUNKER AV

PARR RD NE

LANDAU DR

HILLYERS LN

BIR
DS

EY
E A

V

GRA
NIT

E D
R

KOFFLER AV

FOXGLOVE ST

YEW ST

S P
AC

IFI
C HW

SHENANDOAH LN

NEWPORT WY

MAPLE ST

KELOWNA CT

OREGON CT

HE
RI

TA
GE

 C
T

PARK CR

S 1S
T S

T

PALIMINO AV

BR
OU

GH
TO

N 
WY

E BLAINE ST

GREENVIEW CT

PATRICK WY

AMITY CT

N 5T
H ST

QU
IN

N 
RD

SMITH DR

COUNTRY CLUB RD

N PA
CIFI

C HW

City of Woodburn Council Wards, 2021

0.5 0 0.50.25 Miles
r:/common/census/2020 Redistricting/Woodburn/ProposedWardsMap2021.mxd  LH  11/2/21

Legend
Hydrography

Roads

1
2
3
4
5
6

Wards

9



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator __x____ City Attorney __x____ Finance __x___ 

  November 8, 2021 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council  
 
FROM: Jim Row, Assistant City Administrator 
  
SUBJECT: Repeal of Ordinance 2237, an outdated Ordinance creating a 

reimbursement district for the Woodburn Factory Outlet Stores Project  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
  
Adopt the ordinance repealing ordinance 2237 (a special ordinance that 
established a process for the formation of a reimbursement district to address 
specific legal issues related to the land use applications of Craig Realty Group, 
LLC, the developer of the Woodburn Factory Outlet Stores) because the 
Ordinance is outdated and no longer applicable, and declaring an emergency. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
In June 1999, the City Council adopted Ordinance 2237 to establish a process for 
the formation of a reimbursement district related to the extension and 
improvement of Arney Road and the installation of a traffic signal at State 
Highway 219 and Woodland Ave.  The reimbursement district provided a 
mechanism for benefitting property owners to participate in the cost sharing of 
improvements that Craig Realty was required to make. 
 
Since Ordinance 2237 was a special ordinance that only applied to the Factory 
Outlet project, it has no further use going forward.   
 
With the City now experiencing a significant increase in development activity, 
some developers have been exploring options for sharing the costs of installing 
public infrastructure that is sized to provide excess capacity beyond that required 
to serve their individual projects.  The existence of this special ordinance has 
caused some confusion with developers who mistakenly believe it establishes a 
process for creating reimbursement districts that can be utilized for their projects.  
Repealing Ordinance 2237 will help clear up this confusion with developers.   
 
 
 
 

10



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
November 8, 2021 
Page 2 

DISCUSSION: 

Currently, System Development Charges (SDC) credits are available to 
developers who construct public improvements that provide excess capacity. 
Staff believes that the SDC credits process adequately addresses the excess 
capacity issue in the vast majority of situations.   

However, if the need arises in the future, the City Council could adopt a new 
ordinance that either, creates a reimbursement district process for another 
unique individual development project or one that applies to any future 
development project.   

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

N/A 

Attachment: 
Memorandum Opinion No. 2021-05 

11



12



Memorandum Opinion No. 2021-05 
October 28, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 
Discussion  
 
General v. Special Ordinances 
 
There are two types of municipal ordinances: general ordinances and special ordinances.  A general 
ordinance is sometimes referred to as municipal legislation and is applicable to activities and 
individuals within the corporate boundaries of the City.  An example of a general ordinance is an 
animal control ordinance.  In contrast, a special ordinance is specific to a particular property, 
person or corporation.   An example of a special ordinance is an ordinance annexing a particular 
parcel of real property. The annexation ordinance legally changes the City’s boundary, but applies 
only to that property.   

Both types of ordinances have the full force of law and are not uncommon.  The Woodburn City 
Council has adopted 93 general ordinances that are in everyday use. Additionally, the City 
Recorder maintains a list of special ordinances.  Currently the City Council has adopted 1577 
special ordinances.      

Ordinance Construction Process 
 
The Oregon Supreme Court has addressed statutory construction in Portland Gen. Elec. Co. v. 
Bureau of Labor & Indus. 317 Or 606 (1993) and State v. Gaines, 346 Or 160 (2009).  The legal 
principles articulated in these cases apply to both state laws and local government enactments such 
as Ordinance 2237. Under both PGE and Gaines, the overall goal in the construction of the 
legislation is to discern the policy maker’s intent (i.e., what the City Council meant to do when it 
adopted the ordinance).  

Under Oregon’s current framework for statutory construction, the steps are as follows: 

1.  The first step is to examine the text of the enactment (i.e., Ordinance 2237) and the context 
that the City Council adopted it in. 

2.  The second step is to consider the legislative history (i.e., what related documents and evidence 
indicate about the City Council’s intent).   

3.  The third step, if the policy maker’s intent is still unclear after the first two steps, is to use 
general maxims of statutory construction to aid in resolving remaining uncertainty. 

Text and Context of Ordinance 2237 
 
Applying the statutory construction framework, it is even apparent from its caption that the City 
Council passed Ordinance 2237 as “a mechanism whereby the properties which will benefit by the 
construction of the required public improvements by Craig Realty Group Woodburn, LLC, will 
share in the cost of those improvements.”  The text of the whereas clauses further explain the 
context of the ordinance and why the City Council believed its passage was necessary. 

More specifically, the first whereas clause references the nine Craig Realty land use applications.  
The second and third whereas clauses mention that Craig Realty was required by the City to 

13



Memorandum Opinion No. 2021-05 
October 28, 2021 
Page 3 
 
construct both the Woodland Avenue traffic signal and the Arney Road improvement.  Whereas 
clauses six and seven state that after Craig Realty completes the required improvements, other 
properties will receive an immediate benefit and that these benefitting properties should share a 
portion of the cost.   

From the text of the whereas clauses, it is clear that the City Council adopted Ordinance 2237 not 
because it saw a need for a general reimbursement district enabling ordinance but because it needed 
a specific legal solution to the “fair share” issue that it encountered with Craig Realty. The 
language of the ninth whereas clause makes it clear that Ordinance 2237 was passed because the 
City Council believed it was the legal “mechanism” needed to address the Craig Realty situation: 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that establishing a process for the 
formation of a reimbursement district will provide a mechanism whereby both the 
previously conditioned properties and the future developable properties will share 
in the cost of the public improvements constructed by the Developer; 

The primary legislative history of Ordinance 2237 is the staff report to the Mayor and City Council 
from then City Administrator Brown (Attachment C).  Like the whereas clauses, this staff report 
sets out in some detail the Craig Realty “fair share” issue and contains details about how the 
development costs could be allocated.  It specifically states: 

A reimbursement district would be a viable means of creating a mechanism to 
collect the cost of improvements from benefited property owners.  Enforcement 
would be the City’s responsibility, and would take the form of development 
restrictions for properties failing to pay reimbursements.  

After presenting his staff report, City Administrator Brown addressed the City Council about why 
the creation of a reimbursement district could be a solution to the Craig Realty “fair share” issue.  
The minutes of the May 10, 1999, City Council meeting (Attachment D) document City 
Administrator Brown’s remarks: 

Administrator Brown expressed his concern that all concerned parties may not 
want to sign the development agreement. It is his belief that the developer is 
responsible for the road improvements but at a fair share of the total costs. Other 
property owners will benefit in both access and an increase in their property value 
due to the factory stores project. In the event the development agreement is not 
signed by all parties, he suggested that a reimbursement district be formed and the 
Council would be asked to establish a fair share for each of the properties based 
on an engineering analysis done by the Public Works Department. A 
reimbursement district would provide an enforcement tool in which properties not 
currently developed would be required to pay their fair share prior to being issued 
permits. 

Finally, the City Council motion (Attachment D) that authorized the drafting of Ordinance 2237 
makes it apparent that the ordinance was intended as a specific legal solution to address the Craig 
Realty situation and not as a general ordinance enabling the formation of reimbursement districts.    

14



Memorandum Opinion No. 2021-05 
October 28, 2021 
Page 4 
 

FIGLEY/PUGH….. applicant be allowed to proceed with an agreement in lieu of 
assessments functional equivalent of an LID as a mechanism to complete the 
financing of the Arney Road and Highway 219 traffic signal improvements and, if 
the applicant is unable to secure the signatures of the owners of the benefited 
properties located within the City on this agreement, the City Council initiate the 
formation of a reimbursement district upon the improvements. 
On roll call vote, the motion passed unanimously. 

 
Conclusion 
 
In order to answer your question and arrive at my opinion, it was necessary to apply the Oregon 
statutory construction rules to the City Council’s passage of Ordinance 2237.  Both the text and 
context of this ordinance make it clear that it was intended by the City Council to be a special 
ordinance to address specific legal issues related to Craig Realty and not a general ordinance to 
enable applications for reimbursement districts throughout the City.  The text/context analysis is 
bolstered by examining the legislative history, which also supports this conclusion.  
 
Recommendation 
 
Because this issue raised in this opinion involves an ordinance, I believe that it would be a good 
idea for the City Administrator’s Office to bring the issue to the attention of the City Council.  If 
the City Council believes, as a policy matter, that there is no need for a general reimbursement 
district ordinance, it could repeal Ordinance 2237.  This would avoid any future confusion.      

Attachments 

A. October 18, 2021, Letter from Multi/Tech Engineering Services Inc. 
B. Ordinance 2237 
C. Staff Report for Ordinance 2237 
D. May 10, 1999, City Council Meeting Minutes 

 

 
 

15



Attachment A 
Page 1 of 4

16



Attachment A 
Page 2 of 4

17



Attachment A 
Page 3 of 4

18



Attachment A 
Page 4 of 4

19



COUNCIL BILL NO. 1976

ORDINANCE NO. 2237

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING A PROCESS FOR THE FORMATION OF A

REIMBURSEMENT DISTRICT IN ORDER TO PROVIDE A MECHANISM

WHEREBY THE PROPERTIES WIDCH WILL BENEFIT BY THE CONSTRUCTION

OF THE REQUIRED PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS BY CRAIG REALTY GROUP,

WOODBURN LLC, WILL SHARE IN THE COST OF THOSE IMPROVEMENTS;

PROTECTING THE PUBLIC INTEREST; AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY.

WHEREAS, the City in 1998 previously approved land use applications in City of

Woodburn File Nos, Annexation 98- 02, Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment 98- 01, Zone Map
Amendment 98- 03, Finding of Conformance 92- 01 and 92- 02, Site Plan Review 98- 05 and

Variances 98- 04, 98- 05 and 98- 06 ( hereinafter " the land use approvals") submitted by Craig
Realty Group, Woodburn LLC (hereinafter " the Developer"); and

WHEREAS, one development condition, contained in the land use approvals, related to

the installation of the traffic signal to be located at the intersection of Woodland Avenue and State

Highway 219:

The applicant shall install a traffic signal at the intersection of Woodland

Avenue and State Highway 219, using applicant' s proceeds, as well as those of
previously conditioned applicants, and other subsequently benefitted properties,
and funds from any local improvement district (" UD ''). In the event the LID is

not approved. the applicant shall abide bv the cost sharin~ decision of the City
Council, The installation of the signal shall be subject to ODOT approval.
emphasis added)" and;

WHEREAS, another development condition, contained in the land use approvals, related

to the improvement and extension of Arney Road to Woodland Avenue and its connection to

State Highway 219:

To accomplish the portion of the projectfor which costs are to be shared by
other benefitted properties, a formal city UD process shall be followed Exhibits

A" and " B" demonstrate apossible method ofsharing costs within the UD, In

the event the LID is not aoproved the applicant shall abide bv the decision of the

City Council as to oroject transportation improvement cost sharing, (emphasis
added) " and;

WHEREAS, the Developer cannot now appeal these development conditions to the Land

Use Board of Appeals because the time for this appeal has passed; and

Page 1 - Council Bill No, 1976

Ordinance No. 2237

r-.......---............

Attachment B 
Page 1 of 11

20



WHEREAS, the Developer has not petitioned the City for approval of an LID, no LID

has been approved by the City, and according to the terms ofboth development conditions, if an

LID is not approved, the Developer shall abide by the decision of the City Council; and

WHEREAS, there are certain properties not owned by the Developer, ( the property
owned by Waremart, Inc, and the property owned by Offsprings Holdings LLC) which will

benefit from the Developer' s construction of the above-referenced public improvements, and

which have previously imposed City development conditions which require them to share a

portion of the cost of constructing the public improvements after the public improvements are

completed ( hereinafter " the previously conditioned properties"); and

WHEREAS, there are certain other properties not owned by the Developer, (the property

owned by Dale W. Baker and the property owned by Moore Clear Company, Inc) which will

benefit from the Developer' s construction of the above- referenced public improvements, and

which should be required to share a portion of the costs of constructing the public improvements
at the time these properties develop ( hereinafter " the future developable properties"); and;

WHEREAS, the Developer has benefitted by the land use approvals and is in the process

of completing the construction of its project; and

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that establishing a process for the formation of a

reimbursement district will provide a mechanism whereby both the previously conditioned

properties and the future developable properties will share in the cost of the public improvements
constructed by the Developer; and

WHEREAS, the Developer' s share of the cost of the required public improvements will

be the cost of installing the improvements offset by that portion of the costs that can be recovered

by the Developer from the previously conditioned properties and the future developable
properties, through the reimbursement district process; and

WHEREAS, the City Council further finds that it has a duty to safeguard any involved

public funds and, to the best of its ability, protect the public against any costs or litigation related

to private development; NOW, THEREFORE,

THE CITY OF WOODBURN ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. Definitions. The following terms are defined as follows for the purposes of

this Ordinance,

A. " City" means the City of Woodbum, Oregon.

B, " Developer" means a person who is required or chooses to finance some or all of

Page 2 - Council Bill No, 1976

Ordinance No. 2237

Attachment B 
Page 2 of 11

21



the cost of a street, water or sewer improvement which is available to provide
service to property, other than property owned by the person, and who applies to

the City for reimbursement for the expense of the improvement.

C. " Development Permit" means any final land use decision, limited land use

decision, expedited land division decision, partition, subdivision, or driveway
permit.

D. " Person" means a natural person, the person' s heirs, executors, administrators or

assigns; a firm, partnership, corporation, association or legal entity, its or their

successors or assigns; and any agent, employee or representative thereof

E, " Public Improvement" means any construction, reconstruction or upgrading of

water, stormwater, sewer or street improvements

F. " Public Works Director" means the Public Works Director of the City of

Woodburn.

G. " Reimbursement Agreement" means the agreement between the Developer and the

City which is authorized by the City Council and executed by the City
Administrator, providing for the installation of and payment for reimbursement

district public improvements.

H, " Reimbursement District" means the area which is determined by the City Council

to derive a benefit from the construction of public improvements, financed in

whole or in part by the Developer,

I. " Reimbursement Fee" means the fee required to be paid by a resolution of the City
Council and the reimbursement agreement, The City Council resolution and

reimbursement agreement shall determine the boundaries of the reimbursement

district and shall determine the methodology for imposing a fee which considers

the cost of reimbursing the Developer for financing the construction of the

improvement within the reimbursement district,

Section 2. Application to Establish a Reimbursement District.

A. A person who is required to or chooses to finance some or all of the cost of a

public improvement which will be available to provide service to property other

than property owned by the person may by written application filed with the

Public Works Director request that the City establish a reimbursement district.

The public improvement must be of a size greater than that which would otherwise

ordinarily be required in connection with an application for a building permit or

Page 3 - Council Bill No, 1976

Ordinance No. 2237

OY--" ..,-_..~,,_..... ..'

Attachment B 
Page 3 of 11

22



development permit or must be available to provide service to property other than

property owned by the Developer, so that the public will benefit by making the

improvement,

B, The application shall be accompanied by an application fee, in the amount of

1000, which the City Council has determined reasonable to cover the cost of the

preparation of the Public Works Director' s Report and notice pursuant to this

ordinance,

C, The application shall include the following:

1. A written description of the location, type, size and cost of each public
improvement which is to be eligible for reimbursement.

2. A map showing the boundaries of the proposed reimbursement district, the

tax account number of each property, its size and boundaries,

3, A map showing the properties to be included in the proposed
reimbursement district~ the zoning district for the properties~ the front

footage and square footage of said properties, or similar data necessary for

calculating the apportionment of the cost~ the property or properties owned

by the Developer~ and the names and mailing addresses of owners of other

properties to be included in the proposed reimbursement district.

4, The actual or estimated cost of the public improvements,

D, The application may be submitted to the City prior to the installation of the public
improvement but not later than 180 days after completion and acceptance of the

public improvements by the City.

Section 3. Public Works Director' s Report. The Public Works Director shall

review the application for the establishment of a reimbursement district and evaluate whether a

district should be established. The Public Works Director may require the submission of other

relevant information from the Developer in order to assist in the evaluation. The Public Works

Director shall prepare a written report for the City Council that considers and makes a

recommendation concerning each of the following factors:

A. Whether the Developer will finance, or has financed some or all of the cost of the

public improvement, thereby making service available to property, other than that

owned by the Developer.

Page 4 - Council Bill No. 1976

Ordinance No. 2237

r-'" .. ~.....' -"'-- "~"-'''-'' "..' ..'.-- .....-....,,-....-.----

Attachment B 
Page 4 of 11

23



B. The boundary and size of the reimbursement district.

C, The actual or estimated cost of the public improvement serving the area of the

proposed reimbursement district and the portion of the cost for which the

Developer should be reimbursed for each public improvement,

D, A methodology for spreading the cost among the properties within the

reimbursement district and, where appropriate, defining a " unit" for applying the

reimbursement fee to property which may, with City approval, be partitioned,
subdivided, altered or modified at some future date,

E, The amount to be charged by the City for an administration fee for the

reimbursement agreement, The administration fee shall be fixed by the City
Council and will be included in the resolution approving and forming the

reimbursement district. The administration fee is due and payable to the City at the

time the agreement is signed.

F, Whether the public improvements will or have met City standards,

G, Whether it is fair and in the public interest to create a reimbursement district.

Section 4. Amount to be Reimbursed.

A. A reimbursement fee shall be computed by the City for all properties within the

reimbursement district, excluding property owned by or dedicated to the City or

the State of Oregon, which have the opportunity to use the public improvements,
including the property of the Developer, for formation of a reimbursement district.

The fee shall be calculated separately for each public improvement. The Developer
for formation of the reimbursement district shall not be reimbursed for the portion
of the reimbursement fee computed for its own property,

B. The cost to be reimbursed to the Developer shall be limited to the cost of

construction engineering, construction, and off-site dedication of right of way,

Construction engineering shall include surveying and inspection costs and shall not

exceed 7.5% of eligible public improvement construction cost. Costs to be

reimbursed for right of way shall be limited to the reasonable market value ofland

or easements purchased by the Developer from a third party in order to complete
off-site improvements.

C, No reimbursement shall be allowed for the cost of design engineering, financing
costs, permits or fees required for construction permits, land or easements

Page 5 - Council Bill No, 1976

Ordinance No. 2237

y----------,., ---.---. -..-..-....

Attachment B 
Page 5 of 11

24



dedicated by the Developer, the portion of costs which are eligible for systems

development charge credits or any costs which cannot be clearly documented.

D. Reimbursement for legal expenses shall be allowed only to the extent that such

expenses relate to the preparation and filing of an application for reimbursement.

E, Reimbursement for the amount of the application fee required by Section 2 on this

ordinance.

Section 5. Public Hearinv:.

A. Within 45 days after the Public Works Director has completed the report required
in Section 3, the City Council shall hold an informational public hearing in which

any person shall be given the opportunity to comment on the proposed
reimbursement district, Because formation of the reimbursement district does not

result in an assessment against property or lien against property, the public hearing
is for informational purposes only and is not subject to mandatory termination

because of remonstrances. The City Council has the sole discretion after the public
hearing to decide whether a resolution approving and forming the reimbursement

district shall be adopted.

B. Not less than ten ( 10) days prior to any public hearing held pursuant to this

Ordinance, the Developer and all owners of property within the proposed district

shall be notified of the public hearing and the purpose thereof. Such notification

shall be accomplished by either regular and certified mail or by personal service,

Notice shall be deemed effective on the date that the letter of notification is mailed

Failure of the Developer or any affected property owner to be so notified shall not

invalidate or otherwise affect any reimbursement district resolution or the City
Council' s action to approve the same,

C. If a reimbursement district is formed prior to construction of the improvement( s), a

second public hearing, subject to the same notice requirements, shall be held after

the improvement has been accepted by the City. At that time, the City Council at

its discretion may modify the resolution to reflect the actual cost of the

improvement( s).

Section 6. City Council Action.

A. After the public hearing held pursuant to Section 5( A), the City Council shall

approve, reject or modify the recommendations contained in the Public Works

Director' s report. The City Council' s decision shall be contained in a resolution,

Page 6 - Council Bill No, 1976

Ordinance No, 2237

Attachment B 
Page 6 of 11

25



If a reimbursement district is established, the resolution shall include the Public

Works Director' s report as approved or modified, and specify that payment of the

reimbursement fee, as designated for each parcel, is a precondition of receiving any

city permits applicable to development of that parcel as provided for in Section 10.

B, The resolution shall establish an interest rate to be applied to the reimbursement

fee as a return on the investment of the Developer, The interest rate shall be fixed

and computed against the reimbursement fee as simple interest and will not

compound.

C. The resolution shall instruct the City Administrator to enter into an agreement with

the Developer pertaining to the reimbursement district improvements If the

agreement is entered into prior to construction, the agreement shall be contingent
upon the improvements being accepted by the City. The agreement shall contain at

least the following provisions:

1. The public improvement( s) shall meet all applicable City standards.

2, The total amount of potential reimbursement to the Developer shall be

specified,

3, The total amount of potential reimbursement shall not exceed the actual

cost of the public improvement( s),

4. The Developer shall guarantee the public improvement( s) for a period of

twelve ( 12) months after the date ofinstallation.

5, A clause in a form acceptable to the City Attorney stating that the

Developer shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City from any and

all losses, claims, damage, judgments or other costs or expense arising as a

result of or related to the City' s establishment of the reimbursement

district, including any City costs, expenses and attorney fees related to

collection of the reimbursement fee should the City Council decide to

pursue collection of an unpaid reimbursement fee under Section 10(H),

6. A clause in a form acceptable to the City Attorney stating that the

Developer agrees that the City, can not be held liable for any of the

Developer' s alleged damages, including all costs and attorney fees, under

the agreement or as a result of any aspect of the formation of the

reimbursement district, or the reimbursement district process, and that the

Developer waives, and is estopped from bringing, any claim, of any kind,

including a claim in inverse condemnation, because the Developer has

Page 7 - Council Bill No. 1976

Ordinance No. 2237

m ____._ ___,.._..._ .__ _

Attachment B 
Page 7 of 11

26



benefited by the City' s approval of its development and the required
improvements.

7. Other provisions the City determines necessary and proper to carry out

the provisions of this Ordinance,

C. Ifa reimbursement district is established by the City Council, the date, of the

formation of the district shall be the date that the City Council adopts the

resolution forming the district.

Section 7. Notice of Adoption of Resolution, The City shall notify all property
owners within the district and the Developer of the adoption of a reimbursement district

resolution. The notice shall include a copy of the resolution, the date it was adopted and a short

explanation specifying the amount of the reimbursement fee and that the property owner is legally

obligated to pay the fee pursuant to this ordinance.

Section 8. Recordina the Resolution. The City Recorder shall cause notice of

the formation and nature of the reimbursement district to be filed in the office of the Marion

County Clerk so as to provide notice to potential purchasers of property within the district.

Said recording shall not create a lien. Failure to make such recording shall not affect the

legality of the resolution or the obligation to pay the reimbursement fee.

Section 9. Contestina the Reimbursement District. No legal action intended to

contest the formation of the district or the reimbursement fee, including the amount of the

charge designated for each parcel, shall be filed after sixty ( 60) days following the adoption of

a resolution establishing a reimbursement district and any such legal action shall be exclusively

by Writ of Review pursuant to ORS 34, 010 to ORS 34. 102.

Section 10. Obliaation to Pay Reimbursement Fee.

A. The applicant for a permit related to property within any reimbursement district

shall pay the City, in addition to any other applicable fees and charges, the

reimbursement fee established by the Council, if within 10 years after the date of

the passage of the resolution forming the reimbursement district, the person applies
for and receives approval from the City for any of the following activities:

1, A building permit for a new building;

2. Building permits( s) for any addition(s) modification( s), repair( s) or

alteration( s) of a building, which exceed twenty five percent ( 25%) of the

value of the building within any 12- month period, The value of the

building shall be the amount shown on the most current records of the

Page 8 - Council Bill No, 1976

Ordinance No, 2237

T"

Attachment B 
Page 8 of 11

27



county Department of Assessment and Taxation for the building' s real

market value. This paragraph shall not apply to repairs made necessary

due to damage or destruction by fire or other natural disaster;

3. A development permit, as that term is defined by this ordinance,

4. A City permit issued for connection to a public improvement.

B. The City' s determination of who shall pay the reimbursement fee and when the

reimbursement fee is due is final.

C. In no instance shall the City, or any officer or employee of the City, be liable

for payment of any reimbursement fee, or portion thereof, as a result of the

City' s determination as to who should pay the reimbursement fee. Only those

payments which the City has received from or on behalf of those properties
within a reimbursement district shall be payable to the Developer. The City' s

general fund or other revenue sources shall not be liable for or subject to

payment of outstanding and unpaid reimbursement fees imposed upon private
property.

D. Nothing in this ordinance is intended to modify or limit the authority of the City
to provide or require access management.

E. Nothing in this ordinance is intended to modify or limit the authority of

the City to enforce development conditions which have already been

imposed against specific properties.

F. Nothing in this ordinance is intended to modify or limit the authority of

the City, in the future, to impose development conditions against specific
properties as they develop.

G. No person shall be required to pay the reimbursement fee on an application or

upon property for which the reimbursement fee has been previously paid, unless

such payment was for a different type of improvement. No permit shall be

issued for any of the activities listed in subsection lO(A) unless the

reimbursement fee, together with the amount of accrued interest, has been paid
in full. Where approval is given as specified in subsection lO( A), but no permit
is requested or issued, then the requirement to pay the reimbursement fee lapses
if the underlying approval lapses.

H. The date of reimbursement under this Ordinance shall extend ten ( 10) years
from the date of the formation of a reimbursement district formation by City
Council resolution.

Page 9 - Council Bill No, 1976

Ordinance No. 2237

0-_.. _~ __"__...."."._..~, ..,_.___...

Attachment B 
Page 9 of 11

28



I. The reimbursement fee is immediately due and payable to the City by property
owners upon use of a public improvement as provided by this ordinance in

section lO( A). If connection is made or construction commenced without

required city permits, then the reimbursement fee is immediately due and

payable upon the earliest date that any such permit was required.

J. Whenever the full reimbursement fee has not been paid and collected for any
reason after it is due, the City Administrator shall report to the City Council the

amount of the uncollected reimbursement, the legal description of the property
on which the reimbursement is due, the date upon which the reimbursement was

due and the property owner' s name or names. The City Council shall then, by
motion, set a public hearing date and direct the City Administrator to give
notice of that hearing to each of the identified property owners, together with a

copy of the City Administrator' s report concerning the unpaid reimbursement

fee. Such notice may be either by certified mail or personal service. At the

public hearing, the City Council may accept, reject or modify the City
Administrator' s report. If the City Council determines that the reimbursement

fee is due but has not been paid for whatever reason, the City Council may, at

its sole discretion, act, by resolution, to take any action, it deems appropriate,
including all legal or equitable means necessary to collect the unpaid amount.

After the City Council has made the determination that the reimbursement fee is

due but has not been paid, the Developer shall have a private cause of action

against the person legally responsible for paying the reimbursement fee.

Section 11. Public Improvements. Public improvements installed pursuant to

reimbursement district agreements shall become and remain the sole property of the City,

Section 12. Multiple Public Improvements, More than one public improvement may

be the subject of a reimbursement district.

Section 13. Collection and Payment: Other Fees and Charees,

A. The Developer shall receive all reimbursement collected by the City for

reimbursement district public improvements, Such reimbursement shall be

delivered to the Developer for as long as the reimbursement district agreement is

in effect. Such payments shall be made by the City within ninety ( 90) days of

receipt of the reimbursements.

B. The reimbursement fee is not intended to replace or limit, and is in addition to, any

other existing fees or charges collected by the City.

Page lo. Council Bill No. 1976

Ordinance No, 2237

y-' ..--.--- ..--..- ,-- --.-...-,........-...-

Attachment B 
Page 10 of 11

29



Section 14. Nature of the Fees. The City Council finds that the fees imposed by this

Ordinance are not taxes subject to the property tax limitations of Article XI, section 11(b) of the

Oregon Constitution.

Section 15. Severability. If any part of this ordinance is held invalid by a court of

competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this ordinance shall remain in effect.

Section 16. Emereency Clause. This ordinance being necessary for the immediate

preservation of the public peace, health and safety, an emergency is declared to exist and this

ordinance shall take effect immediately upon passage by the City Council and approval by the

ed as to fO~ ({ Yo ~ 6 - '25 - '1 '1
City Attorney Date

APPROVED:~' 4. ~ "-- ~

Richard Jennings, M or ,

Passed by the Council June 28 , 1999

Submitted to the Mayor
June 30, 1999

Approved by the Mayor June 30, 1999

Filed in the Office of the Recorder June 30. 1999

ATTEST: a.A..t.

Mary ant, City Recorder

City ofWoodburn, Oregon

Page 11- Council Bill No, 1976

Ordinance No, 2237

Attachment B 
Page 11 of 11

30



Attachment C 
Page 1 of 4

31



Attachment C 
Page 2 of 4

32



Attachment C 
Page 3 of 4

33



Attachment C 
Page 4 of 4

34



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

MAY 10, 1999

TAPE

READING

decision as to how the parties come to an agreement.
1578 Administrator Brown expressed his concern that all concerned parties may not want to

sign the development agreement. It is his belief that the developer is responsible for the

road improvements but at a fair share of the total costs. Other property owners will

benefit in both access and an increase in their property value due to the factory store

project. In the event the development agreement is not signed by all parties, he suggested
that a reimbursement district be formed and the Council would be asked to establish a fair

share for each of the properties based on an engineering analysis done by the Public

Works Department. A reimbursement district would provide an enforcement tool in

which properties not currently developed would be required to pay their fair share prior to

being issued permits.

FIGLEyIPUGH..... applicant be allowed to proceed with an agreement in lieu of

assessments functional equivalent of an LID as a mechanism to complete the financing of

the Arney Road and Hwy. 219 traffic signal improvements and, if the applicant is unable

to secure the signatures of the owners of the benefitted properties located within the City
on this agreement, the City Council initiate the formation of a reimbursement district

upon the improvements.
On roll call vote, the motion passed unanimously.

1835 Administrator Brown stated that the City staff will give the developer their full

cooperation to expedite the permit process. Two issues that need to be clarified are I)

timing of the improvements and 2) Council' s wishes on the indemnification clause.

During Council discussion on the improvement issue, it was the consensus of the Council

to have the roadway ( paving improvements) completed by the July 15th opening date and

they suggested that the second lift of paving be laid in the evening hours rather than

daytime hours.

Mr. Craig stated that the traffic light is on order and it is anticipated to be operational
prior to the Grand Opening.

PUGHlFIGLEY... accept Attorney Shields advice regarding the indemnity language.
The motion passed unanimously.

2100 REVIEW OF OPTIONS ON MONTEBELLO SUBDIVISION,

Mayor Jennings recommended that the Council adopt the option of status quo and, if

adopted, he and Councilor Figley will personally visit every resident on the west side of

Columbia Drive to talk to them individually. He stated that he did not feel that the City is

in a position to hold up the Montebello development any further and, since a consensus

could not be reached when staff met with all parties, he feels that meeting with each

owner will be more beneficial to arriving at a solution.

Harold Spohr, 813 S. Columbia Dr., distributed a letter to the Council which suggested
that another meeting be held with the residents living on the west side of Columbia which

Page 6 - Council Meeting Minutes, May 10, 1999

Attachment D 
Page 1 of 1

35



Page - 1 -  Council Bill No. 3167 
    Ordinance No. 2594 
 

 COUNCIL BILL NO. 3167 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2594 
 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING ORDINANCE 2237 AS PART OF THE ORDINANCE 
REVIEW/REVISION PROJECT AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY 

 
WHEREAS, in June 1999, the City Council adopted Ordinance 2237, a 

special ordinance that established a process for the formation of a 
reimbursement district to address specific legal issues related to the land use 
applications of Craig Realty Group, LLC, the developer of the Woodburn 
Factory Outlet Stores; and 

 
WHEREAS, as required by their land use conditions of approval, Craig 

Realty Group, LLC completed improvements to Arney Rd and the installation 
of a traffic signal at Woodland Ave and State Highway 219; and 

 
WHEREAS, Ordinance 2237 was utilized as a mechanism to ensure that 

benefitting property owners shared in the cost of these public improvements; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, Ordinance 2237 served its intended cost sharing purpose and 

is not applicable to future development projects; and   
 
WHEREAS, repealing Ordinance 2237 will decrease the confusion that 

developers may have regarding its applicability to current and future 
development projects; and   

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds, after an operational review by the 

involved department(s) and upon legal advice by the City Attorney’s Office, 
there is no longer a need for Ordinance 2237; NOW, THEREFORE, 
 

THE CITY OF WOODBURN ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. The City Council finds there is no longer a need for Ordinance 
2237. 

 
Section 2. Ordinance 2237 is repealed.  
 
Section 3. This Ordinance being necessary for the immediate 

preservation of the public peace, health and safety (so that the modifications 
made by the City Council in the course of the Ordinance Review/Revision 
Project may be implemented without delay) an emergency is declared to 

36



Page - 2 -  Council Bill No. 3167 
    Ordinance No. 2594 
 

exist and this Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon passage by the 
Council and approved by the Mayor. 
 

Approved as to form:      
 City Attorney  Date 
 
 
 Approved:   
   Eric Swenson, Mayor 
 
 

Passed by the Council   

Submitted to the Mayor   

Approved by the Mayor   

Filed in the Office of the Recorder   

 
ATTEST:   
  Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
  City of Woodburn, Oregon 
 

37



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator __x____ City Attorney __x____ Finance __x___ 

    November 8, 2021 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council (acting in its capacity as the 

Local Contract Review Board) through City Administrator 
 
FROM: Jesse Cuomo, Community Services Director 
  
SUBJECT: Award of Construction Contract for Aquatic Center DX Recovery Unit 

Repair 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Authorize the City Administrator to enter into a Professional Services Agreement (PSA) 
with Envise Inc. for the Aquatic Center DX Recovery Unit Repair in the amount of 
$113,392.00. 

BACKGROUND: 
 
In September, the City issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) seeking a qualified 
HVAC firm to perform repair and maintenance services on Woodburn Aquatic 
Center’s DX Recovery Unit.  The two proposals received by the October 12, 2021 
deadline were evaluated and ranked by a City employee review panel 
consisting of the Community Services Director, Project Engineer, and Parks and 
Facility  Maintenance Supervisor.  The committee evaluated the proposals based 
on the responding firms’ qualifications, demonstrated accomplishments, 
understanding of the project, organization, staffing of the proposed firm, and 
evaluation of fee schedule. With the highest possible score of 100, the responding 
firms were ranked as follows: 
  
  Firm   Score 

1. Envise Inc.       91 
2. Hydro-Temp Inc.        80   

 
The contract award is in conformance with public contracting laws of the State 
of Oregon as outlined in ORS Chapter 279C and the laws, regulations of the City 
of Woodburn, therefore, staff is recommending the contract be awarded. 
 
 
 
 

38



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
November 8, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The continued improvements to the Aquatic Center mechanical equipment for 
increased energy efficiencies and savings has been a key component in the cost 
recovery goal of 50% over the past several years. The improvements of the 
previous components that have been replace in previous years include wading 
pool heater, lap pool heater, natatorium LED lighting upgrade and spa heater.  
 
The next phase of mechanical equipment improvements for increases in energy 
efficiencies include the repair of the Munters unit. The Munters unit replaced the 
original Natatorium HVAC System in 2009.  The Munters system has a flat plate 
heat exchanger, DX Recovery, and a gas-fired heater.  The DX recovered heat 
can be returned to the supply air/or used to heat the pool water.  The DX piping 
has failed, leading to catastrophic compressor failure, on three occasions. The 
system controls temperature and humidity very well, but without DX, recovery is 
more expensive to run. 
 
In 2019, the Woodburn Aquatic Center went through a Technical Analysis Study 
to find additional energy cost-saving opportunities. The report submitted by 
Nexant in partnership with the Energy Trust of Oregon found that replacing the 
internal heat recovery system of the Munters unit which had failed would allow for 
estimated annual savings of 106,207 kWh and 21,945 therm savings annually. 
Additionally, this project is eligible for an incentive of $65,835.00 from the Energy 
Trust of Oregon upon completion of the project.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The subject project is identified in the adopted fiscal year 2021/22 Budget and 
funded by the Capital Improvement Fund, with an estimated incentive 
reimbursement from the Energy Trust of Oregon of $65,835.00. 
 

39



PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT- Envise   Page 1 
The Woodburn Aquatic Center DX Recovery Repair Project 

CITY OF WOODBURN 
PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
THE WOODBURN AQUATIC CENTER DX RECOVER REPAIR PROJECT 

 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of the date first indicated on the 
signature page, by and between the City of Woodburn, an Oregon municipal corporation 
(hereinafter referred to as “CITY”), and Envise, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as 
“CONTRACTOR”). 
 
WHEREAS, CITY needs certain CONTRACTOR services; and 
 
WHEREAS, CITY wants to engage CONTRACTOR to provide these services by reason 
of its qualifications and experience; and 
 
WHEREAS, CONTRACTOR has offered to provide the required services on the terms 
and in the manner set forth herein, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED as follows: 
 
SECTION 1 – SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
The Scope of Work to be performed by CONTRACTOR under this Agreement is 
described in Exhibit A, which is attached to this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 2 – DUTIES OF CONTRACTOR 
 
A. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the quality and coordination of all work 

furnished by CONTRACTOR under this Agreement. 
 

B. CONTRACTOR represents that it is qualified with the necessary training and 
skills to furnish the services described in this Agreement. 
 

C. CONTRACTOR shall provide, at its sole expense, all equipment and materials 
necessary to perform the services described in this Agreement.   

 
D. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for employing or engaging all persons 

necessary to perform its services and will abide by all applicable State and 
Federal laws regarding the employing or engaging said persons including, but 
not limited to, tax reporting, anti-discrimination, and workers compensation. 
 

E. CONTRACTOR is engaged as an independent contractor and is responsible for 
any federal or state taxes applicable to any payments made under this 
Agreement. 
 

40



PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT- Envise   Page 2 
The Woodburn Aquatic Center DX Recovery Repair Project 

F. CONTRACTOR shall obtain and maintain a valid business registration with the 
City of Woodburn. 

 
SECTION 3 – DUTIES OF CITY 
 
A. CITY shall provide CONTRACTOR the pertinent information regarding CITY’s 

requirements for the services to be provided. 
 
SECTION 4 – TERM 
 
The services to be performed under this Agreement shall commence upon execution of 
the Agreement by both parties and be completed on or before March 31, 2022.  
 
SECTION 5 – PAYMENT 
 
Payment shall be made by CITY to CONTRACTOR only for services rendered.  In 
consideration for the full performance of the services set forth in Exhibit A, CITY agrees 
to pay CONTRACTOR a fee of $113,392.00.  Compensation shall be only for actual 
services provided based on the rates specified in Exhibit A. CITY will issue one-half of 
the fee ($56,696.00) to CONTRACTOR as a deposit for work with the remaining 
balance paid upon submission of a payment request and CITY approval of the work 
performed. 
 
 
SECTION 6 – TERMINATION 
 
Without limitation to such rights or remedies as CITY shall otherwise have by law, CITY 
shall have the right to terminate this Agreement or suspend services for any reason 
upon written notice to CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR agrees to cease all work under 
this Agreement upon receipt of said notice. 
 
SECTION 7 – CONFIDENTIALITY 
 
All documents or information including, but not limited to, lists of customers and 
participants, future plans, and other business affairs provided by CITY to 
CONTRACTOR shall be considered as confidential.  CONTRACTOR shall not make 
any such documents or information available to any individual or organization not 
employed by CONTRACTOR or CITY without the written consent of CITY before any 
such release.  CONTRACTOR shall not use any such documents or information for any 
purpose other than providing the services set forth in this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 8 – CONTRACTOR’S STATUS 
 
It is expressly agreed that in the performance of the professional services required 
under this Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall at all times be considered an independent 
contractor, under control of CITY as to the result of the work but not the means by which 

41



PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT- Envise   Page 3 
The Woodburn Aquatic Center DX Recovery Repair Project 

the result is accomplished. Nothing herein shall be construed to make CONTRACTOR 
an agent or employee of CITY while providing services under this Agreement. 
 
Section 9 – INDEMNITY 
 
CONTRACTOR agrees to hold harmless and indemnify CITY, its officers and 
employees from and against any and all claims, loss, liability, damage, and expense 
arising from the negligent, or claimed negligent, performance of this Agreement by 
CONTRACTOR, its officers or employees. CONTRACTOR agrees to defend CITY, its 
officers or employees against any such claims. This provision does not apply to claims, 
loss, liability or damage or expense arising from the sole negligence, or willful 
misconduct, of CITY. 
 
Section 10 – INSURANCE 
 
CONTRACTOR shall provide and maintain: 
 
A. Commercial General Liability Insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 

per occurrence and $2,000,000 in the aggregate.  
 

B. Automobile liability Insurance with a limit not less than $1,000,000 per 
occurrence-combined single limit or $1,500,000 bodily injury and $1,000,000 
property damage. 
 

C. If applicable, Workers Compensation in at least the minimum statutory limits. 
 

D. All insurance shall: 
 

1. Include CITY as an additional insured with respect to this Agreement and the 
performance of services in this Agreement. 

 
2. Be primary with respect to any other insurance or self-insurance programs of 

CITY and be non-contributory and waive subrogation rights. 
 

3. Be evidenced, prior to commencement of services, by properly executed 
policy endorsements in addition to a certificate of insurance provided to CITY. 

 
4. No changes in insurance may be made without the written approval of CITY. 

 
SECTION 11 – NONASSIGNABILITY 
 
Both parities recognize that this Agreement is for the personal services of 
CONTRACTOR and cannot be transferred, assigned, or subcontracted by 
CONTRACTOR without the prior written consent of CITY. 
 

42



PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT- Envise   Page 4 
The Woodburn Aquatic Center DX Recovery Repair Project 

SECTION 12 – WAIVERS 
 
The failure of either party to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not be 
construed as a waiver or limitation of the party’s right to subsequently enforce and 
compel strict compliance with every provision of this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 13 – NOTICES 
 
All notices hereunder shall be given in writing and mailed, postage prepaid, addressed 
as follows: 
 
TO CITY:   TO CONTRACTOR: 
City of Woodburn  Envise Inc. 
Jesse Cuomo, Community Services Director  Chris Conrad 
270 Montgomery Street  4750 N. Channel Ave. 
Woodburn, OR  97071  Portland, OR 97217 
  
SECTION 14 – STATE PUBLIC CONTRACT PROVISIONS 
 
All requirements of ORS Chapters 279A, 279B, and 279C including but not limited to 
the following, as applicable, are incorporated herein by reference. 
 
A. If CONTRACTOR fails, neglects or refuses to make prompt payment of any claim 

for labor or services furnished by any person in connection with this Contract as 
such claim becomes due, CITY may pay such claim to the person furnishing the 
labor or services and charge the amount of the payment against funds due or to 
become due CONTRACTOR by reason of the Contract. The payment of a claim 
in the manner authorized above shall not relieve the CONTRACTOR or its surety 
from its obligation with respect to any unpaid claims. 

 
B. CONTRACTOR and its subcontractors, if any, are subject to Oregon Workers’ 

Compensation Law, which requires all employers that employ subject workers 
who work under this Contract in the State of Oregon to comply with ORS 656.017 
and provide the required workers’ compensation coverage, unless such 
employers are exempt under ORS 656.126. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that 
each of its subcontractors, if any, complies with these requirements. 

 
C. CONTRACTOR shall, upon demand, furnish to the CITY, written proof of 

workers’ compensation insurance coverage. CONTRACTOR is required to 
submit written notice to the CITY thirty (30) days prior to cancellation of said 
coverage. 

 
D. CONTRACTOR is engaged as an independent contractor and will be responsible 

for any federal or state taxes applicable to any payments made under this 
Contract.  
 

43



PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT- Envise   Page 5 
The Woodburn Aquatic Center DX Recovery Repair Project 

E. Pursuant to ORS 279B, CONTRACTOR specifically represents and warrants that 
CONTRACTOR has complied with all applicable federal, state, and city tax laws, 
including but not limited to ORS 305.620 and ORS chapters 316, 317 and 318.   
 

F. CONTRACTOR covenants to comply with all tax laws referenced above during 
the term of this contract and that any failure to comply is an express breach and 
City may terminate this Contract and seek damages as allowed herein or under 
applicable law. 

 
G. CONTRACTOR agrees and certifies that it is a corporation in good standing and 

licensed to do business in the State of Oregon. CONTRACTOR agrees and 
certifies that it has complied and will continue to comply with all Oregon laws 
relating to the performance of CONTRACTOR’s obligations under this Contract. 

 
H. CONTRACTOR shall: 
 

1. Make payment promptly, as due, to all persons supplying to the 
CONTRACTOR labor and material for the prosecution of the work provided 
for in the contract documents; 

 
2. Pay all contributions or amounts due to the State Accident Insurance Fund 

incurred in the performance of this Contract; 
 
3. Not permit any lien or claim to be filed or prosecuted against the CITY on 

account of any labor or material furnished; and 
 
4. Pay to the Department of Revenue all sums withheld from employees 

pursuant to ORS 316.167. 
 
I. The CONTRACTOR shall promptly as due, make payment to any person, co-

partnership or association or corporation furnishing medical, surgical and hospital 
care or other needed care and attention, incident to sickness or injury, to the 
employee of such CONTRACTOR, of all sums which the CONTRACTOR agrees 
to pay for such services and all moneys and sums which the CONTRACTOR 
collected or deducted from the wages of employees pursuant to any law, contract 
or Agreement for the purpose of providing or paying for such service. 

 
J. The CONTRACTOR shall pay employees for overtime work performed under the 

contract in accordance with ORS 653.010 to 653.261 and the Fair Labor 
Standards Act of 1938 (29USC201 et. seq.). 

 
K. An employer must give notice to employees who work on a contract for services 

in writing, either at the time of hire or before commencement of work on the 
contract, or by posting a notice in a location frequented by employees, of the 
number of hours per day and days per week that the employees may be required 
to work. 

44



PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT- Envise   Page 6 
The Woodburn Aquatic Center DX Recovery Repair Project 

L. CONTRACTOR will comply with 279.835 et seq. in the procurement of products 
and services from a nonprofit agency for disabled individuals. 

 
SECTION 15 – AGREEMENT CONTAINS ALL UNDERSTANDINGS; AMENDMENT 
 
This document represents the entire and integrated Agreement between CITY and 
CONTRACTOR and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, and 
agreements, either written or oral. 
 
This document may be amended only by written instrument, signed by both CITY and 
CONTRACTOR. 
 
SECTION 16 – ATTORNEY FEES 
 
In the event a suit or action is instituted to enforce any right guaranteed pursuant to this 
Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to, in addition to the statutory costs and 
disbursements, reasonable attorney fees to be fixed by the trial and appellate courts 
respectively. 
 
SECTION 17 – GOVERNING LAW 
 
This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Oregon. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, CITY and CONTRACTOR have executed this Agreement the 
day and year written. 
 
CITY OF WOODBURN:  CONTRACTOR:  
  Envise Inc. 
 
 
 
By:   By:   
     
Print:  Print: Chris Conrad 
Title:    Title:  Sales and Services Manager 
 
Date:    Date:    
 

 
 
 
 
 

45



Exhibit A

46



Exhibit A

47



Exhibit A

48



Exhibit A

49



Exhibit A

50



Exhibit A

51



Exhibit A

52



Exhibit A

53



Exhibit A

54



Exhibit A

55



Exhibit A

56



Exhibit A

57



Exhibit A

58



Exhibit A

59


	October 25, 2021
	memo - 2021-10October
	270 Montgomery Street        Woodburn, Oregon 97071          (503) 982-5246

	Staff Report - Ward Boundaries
	Ward Boundaries
	WardsMap2021 with key fixed
	Agenda Item - Repeal Ordinance 2237 - Reimbursement District
	FROM: Jim Row, Assistant City Administrator
	URECOMMENDATIONU:
	UBACKGROUNDU:
	UDISCUSSIONU:
	UFINANCIAL IMPACTU:
	N/A
	UEnclosuresU:
	Memorandum Opinion No. 2021-05

	MEMO OPINION NO 2021-05 - Application of Ordinance 2237 - Reimbursement District
	Memorandum Opinion Draft 2021-05
	Attachment A - MEMO OPINION NO 2021-05 - Letter from Multi-Tech Engineering Serv
	Attachment B - MEMO OPINION NO 2021-05 Ord 2237 - Reim Dist Craig Realt
	Attachment C - MEMO OPINION NO 2021-05 - Staff Report 05.10.1999
	1999
	1999-2
	1999-3
	1999-4

	Attachment D - MEMO OPINION NO 2021-05 -Minutes - 05_10_1999 page 6

	Repeal of Reimbursement District Ordinance
	STAFF REPORT PSA_ Envise
	FROM: Jesse Cuomo, Community Services Director
	URECOMMENDATIONU:
	UBACKGROUNDU:
	UDISCUSSIONU:
	UFINANCIAL IMPACTU:

	PSA _ Envise
	Exhibit A -Staff Report - Envise Proposal



